Tape 4. 

Interview with Ron Eden made in 1990

This interview was made in Ron’s home in the Tuckenhay area.

Peter Thomas – roman normal, 

Ron Eden – Red Roman normal, 

Donna Thomas – roman italic

Unclear passages have asterisks *** 
[Note by Steve Cox: These first two bits are not Ron Eden. He has a Lancashire accent, not Devon!]

We were going round the mill with the technical section of the Papermakers Association. And we went into this place where they were making handmade paper and they gave us a hand mould and, you know, and everybody had to make a sheet of paper. And then afterwards they dried them of and you know, marked who’d made them … and then the experts examined the sheet, and the best one won a bottle of whiskey. And it was me! Quite out of the blue really. I’ve still got the sheet at home.

Did you know Gordon Whitehead, who was the manager at St. Cuthberts?

At Wookey Hole …

No I can’t say I … it’s a few years since I was there. … It was in the Grand Exhibition, at Crystal Palace, in 1860, or something like that. And that was taken out of there ... and it used to be down the hall by the rag steeps are. You remember it? It was taken out of there. It was taken to … besides wedding.

So interesting the whole story about…

==================

You were saying - Harrison’s father, you told me what he did and where he worked.

Well, he used to be … I’m not sure whether he was the owner or the manager of the Ely paper mill in Cardiff. And I think he, I’m not sure whether he owned Treforest coating mill as well. But he sold out to Wiggens Teape when they bought the Ely Mill.

I wonder when that was? 30’s, 40’s, 50’s?

It was after I started at Ivybridge.

That’s close, that’s the middle 50’s, something like that.

I’d say round about 1960 or something like that probably.

So the younger Harrison owned already this mill down here then? He bought it in early 19..?

I think he probably did, yes. He was a solicitor, this Harrison here, who owned Tuckenhay. His father actually came from Settle, in Yorkshire … I remember the name Settle because we used to buy lime from there when I worked at Hinton Mill. We used to buy lime for the causticisers.

And you said he worked in the esparto process?

Yeah. He was a big one in the esparto industry, before the war.

Cardiff would have been a good spot to get it.

Ely was a big esparto mill. And then they went on to boiling straw, during the war. And I think they used to … I think it was another process called the Pomilio process, where they used to put it through on a continuous process. They wouldn’t boil it under high pressure like the esparto was. But it was never a very great success, the Pomilio process.

Well great.

=================

It was similar to this.

It was a different picture.

It was the same angle of the mill, but it was not as many vats. No, it was like four or five. So this is the whole length of the building.
Do you know when it was taken?

It was framed in 1935, I haven't got nothing to take a magnifier or anything …

================

When we were visiting with Cyril he was saying that you were the last apprentice there at Wookey Hole …

Yeah … at Tuckenhay.

At Tuckenhay.
I think there was one more, but I don't know where he's gone, he was called John Howard. 

What was his last name?

Howard. H-O-W-A-R-D. Don't know where he went to, but I think he was after me.

And did he serve a full apprenticeship?

Well 5 years. They cut it from 7 years then to 5 years. 

When you did yours?

Yes. I started in 1946.

The war was going on still then?

Just finished, I think wasn’t it. Yeah. Just after.

Did you do service in the war then?

No, National Service. From '51 to '53.

So were you from a papermaking family?

Err, no, uncles and cousins, they was in it.

What inspired you to apprentice at Wookey Hole … err at Tuckenhay?

Well I was working on a farm and Grandfather said he thought it would be better if I went in the mill, you know.

Working on that farm there in Tuckenhay?

Cornworthy, we used to live at Cornworthy then.

Oh you did.

So when you were taken on as apprentice, did you move down to Tuckenhay, to the Terrace?

Not right at the moment, but a little bit afterwards I did, up where Cyril lives too. Used to be a little bridge went across, at four cottages there.

Where his one house is now there was four cottages there?

Yeah, there's four cottages there now, I think, or are they cottages. 

Did any of the other members of your family work at the mill?

Father did. He was a stoker there.

Meaning he kept the fire?

Yeah that's right. And Grandfather, he worked there. He was disabled. He was up on the linen department, sorting rags, you know?

Did you work at the vat many years?

Yes, Yeah.

Can you remember how many?

No I can't, not off hand!
Who trained you?

Well … Cyril.

You worked at his vat?

Yes. Worked under him different places. 

Was there only one vat when you were there?

No, three.

Who were the other vat men?

Geoff Perring… oh… to start with there was Jack Lynn, Horace Chalcraft, and Geoff Perring. That was like during the war. Because Cyril was in the airforce. 

Then when he came back. And were you apprenticing then, or not yet?

Oh yeah, I was apprenticing when I went there, yeah.

What did you start doing when you started?

Pitching felts.

Yeah?

[8.00 on audio file]
Yeah, (Donna points to the picture Ron is holding and asks) this guy right at the end — like these guys?

Up here. Up this side [of the picture] here, helping the coucher down with the felts. On the big felts, you know. And if there was a felt he could handle his self, he had to pitch it his self. It was a highly skilled job because they had to go down flat. If you dragged it like that, you'd ruin the paper there, you know.

What sorts did they need an end boy for?

Double medium, large post, and some of them wanted it on demi.

A double demi?

Yeah, two sheets of demi.

Not everyone needed it though for a double demi?

Well yeah, most of them did, yeah, because it's piece work, you see?

They didn't want to ruin them, is that it?

No! They only get paid for what they've done, you know.

They could work faster if they had help

That’s it yeah, They’re that much faster.

Because you — and so they'd throw these out these felts, you'd catch it as it went —

You caught it over your left arm, here, swung it out and caught it over your right arm, and put it down here straight, to build the post.

Now, the coucher would usually put the felts on himelf? 

Well he had … if he was pitching his own felts, you would have to pick the felt up, bring it back up against his  couch stall, and then flick it out, pitch it out, and have it go down flat. Cause if you dragged it, you'd spoil your sheet.

So would they throw it out and let it settle down, or sort of roll it across?

No, let it settle.

And when you were pitching felts, you'd put the whole felt on by yourself, or would it be two people? You'd hold onto one end and then you'd take the other end and set it down?

No, I could pitch felts.

No, I'm sorry, (I meant) when you started as an apprentice and were helping.

Oh yes, no there was two people. 

You'd grab one end and —

Yeah, they'd put you on pitching felts with somebody was there. And then in your dinner time they'd let you lay off a little bit, you know. 

Did that take two people as well?

[10:30]
No, only one. But you get a bit of experience laying, you know.

There’s a bit of confusion. Let me clear this up. When you were helping on the end, would the coucher pick up the felt and toss the end to you and then you'd grab it? or would you pick up the felt and —

No, we'd pick it up together. He'd pick that end, I'd pick this end, then you'd swing it out with your right arm, see, like that?

Oh, sort of slide it across.

Yeah, that's it, slide it across. Then you'd get it square there, you see? 

Square to the coucher's end, or to the layers here?

Well both of them, you know, lay it on nice and straight. So when it when it went into the press, see…..

Did you turn the felt corners under to build the post up level?

Yes, yeah.

Did the coucher always tell you when to do it or did you just know. 

We just done it yeah.

You just knew?

Yeah. If you'd turn up too much he'd say "That's enough," you know. And the same with the end, where you'd have to turn in the end to keep the end up.

What was the problem with turning it in too much? Would it ruin the sheets somehow or something?

No. You'd just get it too high, I suppose. Geoff Perring, when you was couching for him, that was single medium, he didn't want his sides kept up. 

He'd like it to be sloping?

Yeah. He'd couch like that all day and there wasn’t no sides turned up. Funny how that time he’d got used to it.

He made good sheets?

Yeah.

So how long did you have to stay pitching felts before you got to do the next thing as an apprentice?

Well it all depends how fast you picked up laying, you know. 

What happened for you?

Well I forget now. Twelve months, I suppose,  two years.

And then after that?

Well, I think, you'd do a bit of couching or a bit of vatting, you'd know, you could take on little bit of that there, break yourself in, get used to it.

But most of the time you'd just be laying felts or helping to —

And then when you got used to laying, then you'd go on. And then they'd have what they called a change out. You'd lay so many posts and you'd go round and make a post for the vat man. And then you'd go round and pitch a post for the coucher.

Would you do a change out as an apprentice?

Yeah, if you was good enough.

If they let you into their piece?

Yes, that's it. If they thought you was good enough.

Who were the people who put the felts in the press and pulled the felts off the post — was that all part of an apprentice job too? 

Yes … No. I should say. There were layers.

And was a layer a whole other job that you trained to do…

Well, first they were laying there, you know, and then more than likely you was changing out.

Were layers usually people who had already served their apprenticeships?

Well some of them were, yeah.

People that were traveling around or something, or what?

No, they were employed in the firm. You know.

As a layer.

Yeah.

Was that usually because they maybe didn't have a good stroke or something or ?

Well it could have been. But normally they tried to learn the way to change out, because it give the rest a break, you know, the vat man and the coucher. 

Did you work as a coucher?

Yes, vatman and coucher over that period of time.

Is there a lot of skill in the coucher's job?

Yeah.

What are the tricks? What are the special skills of a coucher in your mind?

Oh, let's see. You haven't got to get too many drops in it. Water drops from the mould. And you haven't got to slide it at all, you know. If you slide it when you hold it up you see it all slid down.

[15.00]
Was there special techniques for not letting it slide?

Well yeah, you mustn't press too hard and various stuff.

What other sort of things, can you remember?

No, I can't really, but … that’s what it is, you know you had to use … As you went along you had to get used to it, how much pressure to put on it.

How would it work when you were couching a really large sheet? You'd hold the end of the mould and help roll it across? Or usually a coucher could couch all the moulds?

The coucher could couch most of them.

Did you ever work on the larger stuff where you had to help do the couching?

No. They were much bigger fellows than that. We were generally on foolscaps and stuff like that. 

Smaller sheets.

Yeah. Smaller sheets.

What size sheets are these? Can you tell from looking?

No, I can't. Fairly thick though, aren't they? I should say they, those two are the same size.

They look square as well.

Yeah, they are, yeah.

(looking at the picture again) Do these boys have a title?

I can't say what they are, you know. That was definitely the vat man, he stood behind the vat and that’s the coucher. The coucher is there. He’s stood in the coucher place.
What's he doing up there by the stuff tanks? Just showing off?

Could be. It's what we call chests. We call them chests.

Did somebody have to attend to the chess continually?

A beater man, from the beater floor.

So he might be a beater man, down there?

Yes. He might be, could be, having a look over to see if he can get another beater in there.

Did they always have to try and get their beater loads out as quickly as possible or anything?

Well, they would come to see, keep their eye on the chest, and see how much they could get in there, you know.

Did it always work pretty smooth, or were you always yelling at the beater man to get more pulp down.

[17.40]
No, it worked pretty smooth. Providing the management had rags in, you know.

Were there shortages of rags, a lot of times?

No. Come the finish there was.

Yeah

Because the boss was getting a bit short of money, you know, he was waiting for the rags to come in.

So you were just sitting around waiting for pulp to appear, huh?

Yeah, then you had to do different jobs.

What sort of thing?

Different jobs in the mill, you know.

Like finishing?

Well, you could do if you wanted to. (You would do) whatever they asked you to do, you know.

Talk about some of the jobs you did if you can remember.

When they run out of rags?

Yeah.

Oh, cutting the weeds in the mill yard. Maybe up the rag house, you know, given them a hand up there when the rags came in.

Cutting them?

[18.40]
Yeah, helping to get them through.
Did you cut much rag in your day?

Well you had to help when they came in, you know.

Was there much of a trick to cutting rags?

No. They had an old scythe, and a bench, stuck down in the bench, and you just cut through it like that. I never heard of anybody cutting themselves very badly.

No, that's good. And you had to cut them into really tiny bits or —

They'd cut them, you know, however they wanted them cut. And then they go through the rag cutter. 

So you'd just make it into strips.

And they go into the rag boiler.

Did you ever work in the boiler or beater rooms?

Yeah I worked in the beater room quite a bit.

Who did you work with there?

Two cousins. Coxes. Kitty's husband and her brother-in-law.

Her husband was named Sam. Who's the brother-in-law?

Leonard Cox.

What did you do in the beater room?

Feed the rags in the beater and different things.

Was that a long job, loading the rags into the beater?

Well it was, yeah.

Did you have to feed them in real slowly so the beater didn't jam?

Well yes, you didn't have to just dump them in. You could hear the beater going around.

Did they ever jam up?

]20.24]
Well no, because they told you “just to put them in in handfuls.” And they were never rolled down very much when they was putting it in first. 

And then when they, you know, when they knew, they’d wind the roll down. 

But that's in a breaker rather than a beater, right?

We had two breakers, two washers, and one, two, three beaters.

And could one beater man run all three beaters, or did it take more than one?

They run the lot when they was on shift.

Was there much of a trick to how to adjust the beaters?

Yes, it was very skillful. Because if they didn't do their work, these people here couldn't do theirs.

Could you tell us anything about that? That’s something I’d be interested to hear about …
About the beaters?

Or getting the wrong pulp or asking for the right pulp or — is there anything you can remember.
Well, if you was workin’ the vat, and you felt, say the sheet is drying out too quick before you got your water wave over. Cos you used to dip it in, tilt it forward, and you’d get a water wave going across the sheet. While it's going across the sheet, you shake sideways. When it got over to the other side you just pour it off and then shake forward. So if that water wave was disappearing, he'd say to the beater man, “It’s working a bit dry for me, the water waves disappearing’. Alright I do something for that.

So they’d make it a little wetter then?

Yeah, they’d do something at the top.
Would you adjust the heat in your vat to change that, or?

Yes, you could do, yeah.

Did you usually?

You could do, yeah.

So who showed you your shake? Who'd you pattern your shake after?

Well the foreman. When they were shut down for a holiday, we'd get a very old mould, fill a vat up with water, and get a piece of felt, put it across a mould, put the deckle on, you'd dip it in the water, and you'd get the same effect as though you were dipping in pulp.

You'd sort of practice shaking it.

Yeah, practice shake.

And it would be the foreman that would sort of make —

Well he'd show you what to do. This is what they'd tell you: “You dip in there, you tilt it forward and get the water wave going across, and then you shake it sideways till it’s at the front, throw it off and shake it forward.
Why is the throwing off part important, what does that do?

Just throws the water off, excess water.

Otherwise if you let it come back again it would sort of ruin the sheet in some way?

Yeah. And you had ... on normal writing paper, and drawing paper and that, you go and what they call “shut the sheet up.” When you shake it you go 1-2-3-4-5. But on vellums they didn't used to like those shut up. When you through the water wave off, you'd just go 1-2.

Vellums are a harder sheet than a writing sheet?

No easier to make, behind a vat.

Why was that?

Because you didn't have to shut it up. You just give it the 1-2 and you'd got it on to the stay resting.

So did they sort of specify how many closes you should give to a certain type of sheet.

Yeah, the foreman would often come along and say to some blokes, "You're making it too good. Don't make it so good." You know, well what he wanted done was only the 1-2 done.

How could he tell it was too good, I don't understand.

[24.40]
When we was working, we had a foreman, and he would come in … When you started up in the morning, you’d make a post of paper, vat man would go out and look at his sheet, pick it up, take it up and put it on a steam pipe. There was a steam pipe, put it on the steam pipe. The foreman would come in, ohh, 7 o’clock. He'd go around, pick these sheets up, he knew what they weighed - that’s down the vat house. He’d fold them up, weigh them, then he would tell the vat man what he was, you know, pound up, pound under, or two pounds under. Then he used to have to go up here and adjust the pulp. 

So for vellum you'd want the formation to look a little cloudier and that's why you only shake it a couple of times?

Yeah. That’s it.

And so if you give it five or six shakes it would sort of be really too even?

Yeah, just do it one, two. And of course you didn’t see so many drops in that if it's cloudier. If you had a few slips, you wouldn't see so many slips in it.

What was vellum used for? Who ordered it?

Solicitors law stationery.

That was something you were making handmade a lot, I guess in the end.

Yes, that's correct. They made it for America, for AWS, American Watercolor Society, they made some of that down there.

What sort of sheet was that?

Imperial.

So it's big. Very heavy as well? 400 pound or something like that?

No. I used to make 72 and 90 pound. But then they did one, not for American Water Society, but they went on 300 pound and 400 pound, big thick.

So could one man form those sheets.

Used to, yeah. You could pretty near walk over the vat.

Because the pulp was so thick in there, yeah?

Well they had extra filler then, could near walk over the vat, had extra deckle, big deckle, thick deckle. Big, thick wooden deckle to keep the pulp on. You’d have to dip very deep.

You'd have to actually go under the water?

[27.10]
Well, you’d go down so far as you could! And then —

Did they make you shave your arms to make that sort of paper so you wouldn't drip on it?

Oh yeah, [pointing to the picture] and then when that mould is there [on the runners being slid to the coucher] they would take away the ass [the thing that holds the mould for the coucher], that’s an ass there and they would take away that one. And they had an extra hand down [laborer down helping at the vat?], with a bigger mould than you were using, than imperial, and then put it on top, and you'd help press the water out.

With what?

With a lot bigger mould than an imperial mould. And you'd use it to press the water out.

So you'd take the deckle off, lay it out flat, and then press the water out with another mould.

And I don't know if they didn't have two blokes to get the mould from there down here. Yeah, so there was a lot of extra hands on it. [a lot of people working.]
That was slow papermaking, huh? But it was paid for by the piece wasn’t it?

Yeah. Piece work, yeah.
That would have been (good pay)— was that, you just didn't (have to make much that per day to get in your quota)

Oh no, they’re soon going home, just after dinner. Mind start 6:00 in the morning. They'd start 6:00 in the morning, used to. They’d soon be going home just after dinner.

That's an interesting sheet. Did they make a lot of that? Did they make that sheet very often?

No, not very often, no.

What were the Foolscap sheets used for?

That’s for ordinary writing paper, that was.

You made a lot of that?

Yeah, we did.

Was that the size you made, mostly?

Yeah. 

How many sheets a day did you make when you made foolscap?

Oh, foolscap. Could be 4-3/4 quire. And some of the very thin was 5 quire.

And how did that work, I've heard other people say things like that. Who told you how much you had to make in a day. How does that whole thing work?

All laid down by the handmade papermaker’s society and the management, I suppose.

What if you didn't make enough in a day? What would you do? Or if you made too much?

[30.00]
Oh well if you made too much and went on, at the end of the week they could knock off early, you know.  And on some of the big sorts they’d finish Thursday night. But it wasn’t so on small stuff. You may have to go in Saturday morning, to finish up. So if you handed in six days ‑

What does that mean handed in six days?

Well, you could say. If you wanted to finish Friday night and you was on a small sort, you'd say to your mate, “What do you hand in this week then? Do you want to six days? Oh no, do 5-¾”. You’d just put in 5 ¾, and you wouldn't do your full week.

But if you got paid by the piece, how did the weekdays relate to that?

They'd just pay you so much a day, I suppose.

As well as by the sheet?

No, you didn't get it by the sheet, you got it so much a day.

Oh so piecework really meant that you just had a certain number of pieces to get done a day. 

Yeah.

And if you were paid by the day how they determined how long a day was? By how many sheets you'd made?

Yes, that's correct. 

Oh, I never really understood that. So with foolscap, that would mean you'd have to make, like you said, 4-¾ reams in a day, to do a whole day's work, and if you didn't do a whole day's work, you'd just turn in ¾ of a day or something like that.

On Imperial you'd be making only 3 reams a day.

So you could get ahead on that. I wonder why they cut it up that way.

[31.20]
Well, because paper was sold by weight. And the bigger or heavier the paper that was sold, the less weight they wanted for your wages.

So who got to make the larger sheets because it was easier work? Or was it easier?

Well —

Was it the more senior vat man that got to make bigger sheets?

Well you say that’s senior vat man because, during the war there was a little fellow down there who was no bigger than me, had a hump on his back as well, a bit deformed, and the chaps was called up, and mind he had been making foolcap for years. And I suppose they asked him if he'd go on the big sorts, double medium, large post, double elephant. He went on that and he could do that and he could do it better than a big bloke. Yeah, you couldn't fault him. Best vat man I ever seen.

Is that the fellow that the fellow Cyril said something about? He said he saw a little guy making paper and said, "If he can do it, I can do it." I wonder if that was him.

I reckon so yeah.

What was that fellow's name, can you remember?

Horace Chalcraft. C-A-L-C-R-A-F-T (wrong!)

Did he live in Tuckenhay?

Yeah. Along the old string of houses, down at the bottom there.

Was that a papermaking family in Tuckenhay?

Yes, yeah. These people was proper papermakers. They lived all along there. Ten houses I think there was, belonged to the mill.

What was that like living in a row of houses with a bunch of other papermakers as your neighbours?

Alright I think! We got on all right.

What went on? Did they talk papermaking after hours?

[33.45]
I don't know. I was living up the top by Cyril. I reckon they did, you know, in the pub and that. They used to drink a lot of beer mind, they used to drink some beer.

Did they come in drunk to work?

No, never seen them coming in drunk.

How could they drink so much beer and not end up drunk?

I don't know!
We were talking about that earlier today with another fellow.

[30.30]
One bloke, old papermaker, told me. He said, to a bloke, “Why that beer up the mill, is everyone drunk? He said they said to him. He said, "If you can drink a pint of beer for every post of paper you've couched, we'll buy it for you." He said, so he made 33 posts of paper that day, he said, which meant we had to buy him 33 pints. So he said us went down pub. He said “Shan’t see no more of he tonight!” He said “Coo, was the same he walked in the door”. I suppose he must have sweat it out, I should imagine.

Yeah, you sweated a lot in the vat, huh? Did you drink a lot of water there?

Yeah, yeah, very hot.

Did you drink a lot of water there?

Yeah, could do, yeah. There were a lot of hosepipes there, see, which you had for washing down the vats. Always water there.
Did many of the people drink water a lot?

Yeah, we used to.

All the time, huh?

Yeah, when they come through with the Water Board, they said ‘twasn’t no good then, they condemned it. My cousin said I've been drinking it for years, he said I'm still going to carry on drinking it.

They said the tap water was no good to drink? 

Yeah.

You have a cousin that lives near there now?

No, he packed up. He went book making. He's book making.

Somewhere out of the county?

Yes. Up Tiverton, I think. Said there's more money in that. He said it's better to sweat for fear than what tis hard work, he said. 

[36.00]
He used to do that couching with that thick imperial. He used to work a vat when he came out of the army first.  But then he had a fellow come down from Kent. Come down as a coucher. And he started couching and dragging his felt, see, so my cousin was working the vat and he said it’s no good, you're dragging your felt, see. He said ‘twas all brokens, you know, no doubt. So he (the cousin) said, “Can you pick your felt?” He said “No.” So he said, “Well it tin't no good going on like this.” He (the cousin) said, "Can you work a vat?" He said yeah, "I think it’s better swapping round.” He said, “I'll see the foreman." So he seen the foreman he said, "Sid can't pitch a felt, he's dragging it." He said he’ll have either a mate to help with the felt, or we swap around. He said swap around and see what he makes the sheet like. So they swapped around.

So your cousin didn't mind being a coucher instead of a vat man. 

No.

I sort of heard there was more prestige in being a vat man, I'm surprised that he would want to shift around.

He didn't mind that.

You think there was that prestige in being a vat man or not really?

Well, I don't know. I suppose some people like that work in the vat.

So it didn't matter that much?

No.

Did you get paid the same?

A little bit different. ‘Twasn’t a lot though, I don’t think.
So your cousin liked couching better, maybe?

[37.40]
He did come finish. Yeah you wouldn’t get him behind a vat again.
Is it easier on your back or body to be a coucher rather than a vat man? I mean is that why he liked it more? 

No, I suppose it's the same amount of work, you know. Once he got used to it he wouldn't go back there again.

Did you like couching or forming the sheets more yourself?

It didn’t make no difference. No.
Did you change outs a lot?

Yeah.

Did you get paid more or less if you did change-outs than if you were just working the vat?

[38.4]
No, you had what they call layer's pay, you know, it may have covered you for changing out, I don't know.

Very interesting. Can you remember any stories as an apprentice? Any memories come to mind that you could tell us about? Stories about the mill? Because we're interesting in the mill life, what it was like.

Well, you know the clock down there, don't you? Well some old papermakers told us, told me, I don’t know who, you know the one that got burnt down in Totnes recently, they told us that that clock, down in Tuckenhay, came from in there.

I've heard that from other sources, I think it's true. Mr. Millbourn said that in a letter.

Oh you've got contact with Mr. Millbourn?

Well I called him once, and he said that he really didn't want to be bothered, and I got a letter that he'd written about the history of the mill, to somebody back in about 1955. I just talked to him a few weeks ago.

You just talked to Mr. Millbourn?

No, not Millbourn. Mr. Harrison. No, Millbourn’s gone.

I don't know, maybe a young one, Jackie, but he wouldn't know nothing about it.

Yeah, I think Kitty was saying something about that, and a daughter too, but they don't seem to know anything about papermaking. Are they interested in the history of the family, how the family owned the mill and things like that?
I don't know. I'll tell you what I was going to do when I got a bit more time — I was going to get a history on this village from the library and also a history on Tuckenhay village from the library.

Do you think they have them?

I don't know. I said to the girl down there the other day. Cos I went to the library van the other day. I said “Do you think her could get me a history on Harbertonford?”  Her said I reckon her could if you went and seen her. I said “What about Tuckenhay?” Her said, “You want they history?” I said “Yes, those two villages”. I said “There’s a fair bit of history behind this one.” I said “and there’s fair bit of history down Tuckenhay”, I said “A lot more down there, I should imagine”.

We haven't been able to find it (a book like that), that's why we're talking to people like you.

Because that used to be … that mill was rebuilt. Was it 1889, was it? 

Something like that, I'm not sure.

Oh it was too dark (to see) when you were down there last night?

No, we saw it.

Did you? Plaque up on the wall.

Oh it says it there?

You didn't see that?

No, it wasn't pointed out to us.

Opposite where Cyril lives. He lives in the bungalow there.

Oh OK, that's right, I remember seeing it. 1889.
1889. Before that, you see. Up the left hand side was a very old mill.

Was it a paper mill too?

Oh yeah, paper mill. The said the owners was called Seccombe and Turner. But it was driven by water wheels. 

Right. Seven water wheels or something. So why did you stop being a papermaker, because the mill shut? Or did you quit before that?

Why did I stopped? Oh, they finished making paper (the mill closed its papermaking) and they went on pulp, just making the pulp to feed other mills.

So there wasn't enough work there?

No, it was shift work. And I hadn't been married very long and my wife wasn't very happy about that. So that's why I packed in.

Did you like making paper?

Oh yeah, didn't mind that.

Well, let's see if I can't pry some stories out of you somehow! What can I ask about? How about any of the ladies that worked in the rag room, or the finishing room. Do you remember any of them? Who was the forman of the rag ladies? Who was the foreman in that area?

They didn't have different foremans in those days. The one general foreman done the lot.
So there would just be a lot of ladies in the rag room.

You could just go up, and go through the mill, go to the rag room. Say, they had a bloke up there called Garfield Hodge. H-O-D-G-E.
So he sort of watched the rags. 

Yeah.

And the drying loft too? Was it all ladies that worked in the drying loft?

[44.25]
Oh, in the lofts, Aubrey Elstone, he was a paper maker.

Did you ever work in the loft yourself?

Oh I'd go up and give them a hand, you know.

How did you have any spare time. — oh when there wasn’t pulp (made yet).

[44.40]
That’s it yeah. There wasn’t nothing much to do. They altered it …see I was drying in the lofts years ago. They…altered it from then, from when I was there. They didn't dry it in the lofts.

Oh they dried in that cylinder dryer.

It’s pushed up, in like bubbles, to hold the sheets up. You turned them out, turned them out like you had to, and pushed them up in bubbles.
How many sheets did you put in at a time? Did it depend on the size?

Yeah, it depended on the sort. The fellow in charge would say you know, how many he wanted hung up. With foolscap, or stuff like that, he wouldn’t want so many hung up, you know. With vellums, well he didn't want so many (then he corrected himself) If it was vellums he wouldn't want so many hung up. But if it was foolscap, thinner, he'd want more hung up.

To get them to dry differently?

Yeah. That's right.

Were they pack pressed at that point, or were they individual sheets just sort of sitting next to each other?

No, they'd been sized. In the sizing machine. And they was drying then.

And you could dry a couple sheets next to each other and they wouldn't stick to each other.

No. Mind you, we used to go back evenings, after, and let the air in, so much air in, and regulate the load. 

Wonder what happened to all those little (drying) racks? They went to a scrap merchant somewhere, huh?

I don't know.

Have you seen anywhere around, or are there any people you know that have letters written to paper makers from the old days, or account books or diaries or anything like that?

No.

All you really have is this photo?

Yeah, (laughs) and that one was given to me by somebody who worked in the linen department, when I went on the council, and she was living at Ashprington and she's going in Totnes to live near her relatives, and she was clearing out, so her said, "I've got something for you to do." I said "Have you?" So her said "I know you'll treasure it and look after it for me," So her said "If I take it in there, my relatives won't know what it is, when anything happens to me – it’s just something from Tuckenhay Mill. Throw it out”. Her said “But you'll know what it is, so you'll look after it.” “Yeah”, I said, “It’s no problem at all.”

Would you be willing to let us get a copy of the picture made. Is there a photographer in town that could make a copy of the picture? Would you be willing to have that done? As long as he wouldn't — they wouldn't hurt it, they'd be professionals... A beautiful picture, it would be nice to reproduce in a book. We're looking for pictures like that, to put in this book we're going to make about the Tuckenhay mill. (pointing to our miniature books) Like that little one, something like that. 

[break] 

[48.15]
Looking at the picture, pointing to one of the workers…

They only had a felt apron didn’t they, but they made a felt apron, I think.

Did they specify any kind of clothes you had to wear when you came in? 

No.

Did you have to wear a collar or a tie or anything?

No. 

Did you ever know anyone who wore a paper maker hat, one of those paper hats?

No, I didn't.

You heard about them before?

Yes.

You know how to make them?

No I don't.

[break]

[48.50]
(looking at a book reading the title) “The Story of Handmade Paper, by the Actual Makers.”
Where did you get this?

When the Original Society of Paper Makers finished, they gave us one each.

When they finished, you mean when they joined up with whatever else they …
Yes, when there weren't enough members for them to carry on, and they wound up they gave us a book each.

 There's different mills in there. 
When was that?1924 it ended? No, it ended later than that? When did it end, the society?

Damned if I know. I can't remember now.

Maybe in the '60s or something like that?

[end of tape side 1]

[49.5]
How did they get all the supplies up to Tuckenhay? Did they come in by boat or on the road with the rags? 

The coal come by boat, into the quays there. Millbourn had a quay and Manning had a quay. Down by the river. They'd pick up the old pilot boat down Dartmouth and then they'd bring them up the river.

How'd they ship out the paper that was finished?

By British Railways, or Great Western Railway, you know.

Is there a train station near Tuckenhay?

No, Totnes.

So how would you get to Totnes? By truck?

They'd come out and pick it up.

By car?

No, by the Great Western, British Railways, in those days, you know? They would say they was coming twice a week to do it. Or they said phone them up, you know.

So they'd come down to Tuckenhay and pick it up?

Yeah.

With a big lorry or something like that?

Yeah.

In the older days they must have done things different. 

Oh yeah.

You think they shipped the paper up the river in the older days?

I wouldn't like to say. My grandfather said they nearly had a station, or at least there was talk about it. But they never got round to it.
Did any other paper makers ever tell you stories about their older days? Can you remember any of those stories?

[51.30]
Yes, it was nearly always drinking beer. I’ll tell you now. There's one — Harry Roberts told us about drinking beer - he and his mate had been over to Waterman's Arms, Tuckenhay. And his mate lived between the two pubs down by the river, see. They worked together on the same vat. So he said I took him to the top of the drive and he said, "Do you want me to go down to the house (with you)?" "No, no, I should be all right, mate. See you in the morning." So he went down in the morning, and he never turned up. So what’s up? So what had happened, instead of he going down home, there was a boat going down that had been unloading coal for Manning.  So he got on the boat, there, and got drinking some more, and he went to sleep. So when he woke up, the boat was at Teignmouth, see? So he said to the fellow, “Where are we?”. He said “Teignmouth”. He said “Put me off will you! I don't want to go any further.” So they put him off and of course in the meantime his wife had come up looking for him. Dolphus he was called. Have you seen Dolph? “No”, he said “I haven't seen him since last night”, he said, “I dropped him off, he was supposed coming home”. (She said) “I haven't seen anything come home”, (he said) “A couple of days afterwards (he said) he come back, (he said) and he had some fish under his arm for his wife”.

That's a good one, yeah. Did they ever have fires at Tuckenhay?

One, come finish here last …  that was with the diesel in there.

Any of the old fellows talk about fires in the old days (or —) ?

No.

Must not have had a lot there.

Never had any there. They had gas engine in they days, to drive the mill, used to generate its own gas.

How'd they generate their own gas?

With a container, with a lever on it. You had to be careful of the lever they tell me. And make sure the lever's was in the right position, then you add this anthracite coke. They’d fill the thing up to the top, close that, start, and push the lever. Now that would drop it down [the coal] in this container and generate the gas. Then inside they had the big one-cylinder engine going.

Big loud thing.

So was this down at the quay, wasn't it?

No, up at the mill.

Well what did they call the gas house?

Yeah, down by the quay, yeah. I can’t never fathom that out, they always said that was the first place gas was made.

Okay, so that supplied the village with lights.

Yeah, but I can’t remember gas being there. I can't fathom that out. ‘Cos you’d think there’d be a sign of gas there now wouldn’t you, eh?
How did you get the (papermaking) moulds built at Tuckenhay? Do you remember were they made at Tucknehay?

[55.30]
No, they weren’t made at Tuckenhay. They had a very, very good bloke that would repair them, called Dick Cann. That's what he was, maintenance engineer, he’d sew the watermarks back on. No, he was a very good fellow, you know. I would say the moulds were made up in Maidstone or somewhere like that.

Did Dick Cann, did he work up til the end, til the closing?

No, he was taken ill and died, he had cancer in the stomach. He was a very good maintenance engineer. Same, Perce Willing. He was a carpenter there.

Did it take many people other than the paper makers to keep the mill working?

Oh yeah. In its heyday, when there were seven vats going, this carpenter said told me ther was over 100 employed there.

What other jobs did people do? Did he tell you? (A lot of rags, a lot of people.)

(Yeah, on the rags.) In the vat house, say, if there’s seven, eight in the vat house, eight vats. Say there was three, 8 three’s is 24, there would be 1 or 2 more in there. Beater room, see? I think in the old days the beater man only looked after the beaters because he had laborers look after them, because the rags they used to put in the big tank with bleach, and they would stay in the bleach tanks for a little while, and then they'd have to come up and go in washers, to get the bleach washed out. 

When you were working and when there was 3 vats working, did they have young children working as end boys and things, or was it mostly already trained men who worked all the jobs?

[58.00]
Mostly trained. There was only John, after me, John Howard, you know.

(John was the last apprentice at Tuckenhay.)

So there weren’t any other kids that came in to do anything?

No.

Who worked in the rag room all that time, in the drying loft?

In the rag room?

Yeah.

Well women, you know, doing it for, oh I suppose you'd call it pin money nowadays, wouldn't you? Extra to keep the house going I suppose …
Not necessarily younger women but just —

No, plenty of buses then. They’d come over on the 8 o’clock one and go home on the 5, see.

From Cornworthy, or from?

Well, Ashprington.

Lot of people from Ashprington worked there?

A few yeah. Totnes, used to be people coming out from Totnes.

Do you think there's anyone around that we could talk to that would have photos or memories of working in the rag room or in the loft or anything?

I doubt that now. They’ve all passed on, see ...

It’s a problem isn’t it? There must be a few old folks around. Is it just that you just don't know who they are, huh?

I can't think of any. Even the person that gave me that one, (the picture) she's gone, see.

What did she do?

In the rag room.

So she would cut rags?

Yeah.

Did you stop to eat at noon?

Yes.

Did the whole place stop?

Yes.

Harry said they worked right on through the noon hour. Just ate breakfast and then they ate a supper.

Did he?

Not so when you were there then?

No.

Did they have a whistle that blew or something like that or —

The big companies. But they had to stop them. Too early. Too much racket going on. Because it would blow three minutes to six, and it'd blow six o'clock to start it, and they'd blow three minutes to eight, I think, to stop it, and eight o'clock to stop. 

What would you get that three minutes for?

Getting ready to take your apron off and all that, you know, getting ready to go out.

Why would you go out at eight? Oh in the evening?

No, in the morning. 

They had a half hour for breakfast then they used to stop at eight to half past eight. See the ones that lived in the cottages here used to go and have fried breakfast. And then they (the whistle) used to have one go at three minutes to half-past eight, and one at half past eight. 

To start work again?

To start work again. And same dinner time.

So when were the times.

But they mightn’t have went 3 minutes to finishing time, it may have been 3 minutes to starting time, I think it was 3 minutes to starting time.

But then a whistle would blow again at 12 noon?

Big siren, it was like a klaxon. People complain, see, a lot of people weren't getting up at that time of the day.

Ah-ha. The sirens were too loud in the early morning?

So then, when would you stop for your noon meal?

Oh, half past 12. 

Everybody would stop? For a half hour?

An hour.

And so then you'd start again at…

Half past one.

And when would you work to then?

In the vat house, you’d go on ‘til five o'clock.

Would everybody stop at the same time or would some people work longer to get their —

No, there was variation.

Depending on if they wanted to get their sheets done?

It depends on how much you've done and —

Did always the same two men work vat and coucher together?

Yes. Eventually they'd change them around, but that was the thing, they’d nearly always worked together.

Because you could get your rhythm right?

Yeah, I suppose, yeah.

Did different people want to get rid of someone, and say I don't want this guy as a coucher anymore?

No, not that I know of, no.

It was the foreman who worked determined who worked with who, or did you sort it out yourself.

No, I suppose it was sorted out eventually by the foreman. But they always seemed to be working together when I went there.

Who was the man you worked with?

Me? I worked with Cyril for a little while. And then, oh, John Setters, he's down in Cornwall now. Worked with him.
What was he?

He's a coucher. A good coucher he was. He couldn't work a vat. 

How come...

Don't know...Although he didn't try or. He didn't want to or something. He was a very good coucher.

Did you change around with Cyril or did he work vat mostly and you couched?

]104.30]
Well, I was working vat once I think, and Cyril was couching. And I started off working the vat because he learnt since he came out of the airforce … and his brother.

You mean, before he went into the airforce he didn't work a vat?

No, he was just a coucher. He come out and persevered, and worked it.

So he wasn't really a natural vat man so to speak.

Well, he'd done his 7 years there, you know. He was more keen on couching before he went in. Oh and he done sizing as well, up in the in the mill, in another department.

Before the war, you mean?

Yeah, when he was learning his trade.

He must have started as an apprentice in the '30s 

Cyril, yeah. 

It was 7 years for him, right? He said he got his card in '41.
So before the war he would have five or six — '41 he'd only have a couple of years before the war. And after the war — you started you said.

[105.50]
'46.

So that’s when you started. Did you find easy to work at the vat? (Or did you have to work at it very hard?)

It was fairly hard work, you know.

What was hard about it?

Getting the knack of it, to start off with.
But once you got that? Did it take a long time to get the knack?
Well no, I suppose it was practicing. How big a mould to you use then?

Small ones. Like a single demi.

Well you can't go wrong on that! About that size, is it? (shows with his hands.)

No, it's a little bigger, maybe twice that size. But you still can't go wrong. We tried the double demi, and it's awful hard. Or double fool's cap. I can't do it.

Can't, can you?

Well I don't think so. Not really well. I haven't had enough practice at the double ones. They're different, the doubles, so wide.

How do you get your pulp done?

I have a Hollander beater. A small hollander beater.

[107.10]
He's working by himself, he doesn't have a coucher.

If I had a coucher, I'd be in business! So how many sheets they could make in a day.

Well it says 35,000 sheets were turned out every week.

Yeah, think that was a 14 vat mill. And you can get the pulp right yourself, can you? You understand that? Do you?

What's the theory?

I don't know, I was asking you! They used to tell me they used to have two bowls down there, Sam, and his brother, and they used to put it from bowl to bowl, and watch it go over the sides, you know? Show it the light and that.
I wish I could have talked to Sam. I can make pulp that seems to form a sheet of paper ok. I mean the paper looks good, but sometimes I don't know if I know exactly what I'm doing. Sometimes it's just by luck and doing the same thing over and over again and it seems to work so I just stick to it. I suppose that's what their trick was too. They got the thing right and just stuck to it.

[109.00]
Mind Sam, he left - there wasn’t no work then when his seven years was up, and then the other beater man left, that used to work with Leonard. So then Leonard said to the foreman, “Let me get Sam back” he said, “we keep on getting beater men down there, he said, and they'd keep on leaving”. So he said, “I don't know if Sam would be able to pick it up”. He said “Let me have him back for three months”, he said, “I’ll see if he won’t pick it up”. He come back, and picked it up no trouble at all. He made sheet and couched, did all the lot, by the end, come finish.

Sam did?

Yeah.

Was Sam a very big man? Was he a little guy or ?

Oh well, bigger than me. About as big as Cyril.

Could you tell me more about Sam, I've heard about him. Did he talk a lot, or was he a quiet guy?

No, he’d yab away, especially when he had a few pints.

Was there anybody that would be kind of the leader of the group, of the paper makers?

I can't think of any, no. But very good footballers the Coxes were. Sam and Leonard.

Cyril was saying something about how he remembered the whole, everybody would start yelling in the vat room, sort of howling or something.

Singing.

Someone at Maidstone was telling us how their crew sang in a choir, so they'd practice while they were making sheets, they'd be singing across the vat room. Did you ever hear any singing while you were there?

Well it ‘twasn’t actually sing, just making a noise! I believe Mr. Millbourn used to send down orders to tell the foreman to stop that noise, because his was house was up top of the hill there, you know, you could hear it right up there, cos the noise wasn’t proper singing.

Did you make the noise to bother Mr. Millbourn?

Yeah, he didn't like to hear it I suppose he thought to his self them doing that how can they be concentrating on their work.

Why'd you guys do it?

I don’t know. I suppose just because we were bored or something like that.

Did you join in?

[111.17]
Oh yeah, we all used to join in. Bar a few. Cyril – never heard Cyril join in …
Would it be a tune or …?

Some old tune you hear on the radio or something like that.

Did you have music playing in the shop?

No, oh no.

It wasn't allowed? (or it wasn't invented yet?)

Oh yeah, you get them all joining in together you could hear it miles away! A fellow on the council said to me, I wondered what it was one day when I was working over there on the road.
Everybody would be sort of humming the same tune?

Yeah, that’s it yeah.
Was there a favorite in the vat room?

No, I couldn't say there was.

We were talking to a fellow from Hayle Mill named Norman Peters.

Hayle, yeah that one’s in the book.

He said that when he formed the sheets he sort of had a rhythm to it. Did you have sort of a rhythm when you formed sheets? Do you remember, did you do it like — do you know what I'm asking about, Donna?

Yeah, he kind of said it was like dancing, he went 1-2-3, 1-2-3, so he would dip 2-3, and then take 2-3- and —

Yeah, yeah. On the vellum you would only go 1-2, might be the end of it. But on the other you'd go 1-2-3-4-5, and that was supposed to have been what they called (the sheet was) shut up then.

And when you were dipping down, did you sort of sing to yourself a rhythm, or did it —

Well yeah, you'd do the thing you'd normally get, you know.

Can you still make a sheet of paper, you think?

I don't think so. I’ve been away about two years. Sitting on the side like, since I was twenty six. And I’ve been home two. I was on the council twenty six years.
Pretty long time, what did you do on the council?

On the refuse cart. Driving one of those.
One more question. Did you like making thin sorts or thick sorts better than another?

[113.25]
Thick sorts. 

And why’s that?

Easier to make.

And why are they easier to make?

Well you done more to hand them. Not big thick sorts. Like large posts. 

Does the wave travel easier on those, so you can make an even sheet faster?

Yeah, thin sorts were a bit of a headache, really. Thinnest I made is the Cyprus (bank) five pound notes, pound notes.

Pretty thin?

Yeah, they are.

Was there any trick to making a thin bank note like that?

Yeah, you had to be careful to dip them in steadier you know, everything else they done steadier. You’d keep your wages there, because there wasn’t so much to lose!
What was the difference in the dip? Just steadier?

Just dip it in steadier, you know.

And did you vary the angle you dipped in for different sheets, or did you always dip at the same angle?

[114.40]
No. They always used to say kiss the mould.

Meaning?

Well, if you had the mould up here and you dipped in, on a bigger sort, you know,

So that's why you wanted to start with it up?

Well you know, on a bigger sort your mould’s that much bigger isn’t it, it’s come up there.

Okay, pretend your picture was the mould. You're saying you'd hold it like this to start?

Well yeah, no, he wouldn’t be so big as that, would he, they get bigger moulds like imperial or something like that, you know.

You'd have to start it like … I think I  … do you understand?

Yeah, it would be much bigger than this.
Yeah, much bigger than that.

What about kiss the mould, do you understand that?

Yeah, start with it right up here.
Yeah, that’s it.

Ok, and when you go down, do you hit the surface exactly perpendicular to the water, or do you come in at an angle — does the angle make any difference?

No, I don't think so, no.

Just whatever your arms happen to do? We read one book where the mill foreman was saying, “Make sure your vat man always dips straight in.”

Is that what it said? Did you go up to Hayle did you, to the mill?

It's closed.
Oh closed.

But we went there. We were visiting with that vat man Norman Peters, talking with him.
We did get a lot of work down from Hayle. Spicers did it used to be?

Pause tape: [116.33]
Spicers when they sold out.

A lot of what?

Moulds. They even had a paper machine. 

Yeah at the end you had a mould machine?

Yeah, you couldn’t never get it to go right.

Did you try running that?

No, Cyril worked that one. 

But it never worked?

No. They had a proper machine man come to work it but he couldn't get no joy out of it.

So it was just a lousy machine maybe?

Yeah, I suppose.

That would have been bad for the owner, huh, to have all that investment in equipment and then it not work.

Yeah. Have you ever been down to Ivybridge Mill? 

No. Oh yeah.

I think we could visit it though. Do they have a cylinder machine?

They've got a machine there, but I don’t know what it is.

We're a little more interested in the hand making than the machine making.
Pause tape

[117.34]
But you've never seen it, so maybe it doesn't really?

No, I have never seen it.

But a lot of people have moulds that's not doing them any good, they're all in their attics somewhere, right?

Yeah, could do. Valuable I suppose as time goes on, I don’t know.

Anything a littel old is a little valuable, in good condition.

Yeah. How do you get your moulds made?

Some I built and some I bought old ones. Got one from that maker in Maidstone the fellow near Hayle Mills. Amies was the name.

Oh, there’s a mould maker there, is there?

Still making em. I mean he doesn’t have a shop proper any more since the Hayle Mill closed. He just works out of his garage.

[break] 

[118.30]
Well we were thinking 

[break]
That was the worst one I seen.

How did it happen?

Up on the glazer rolls, where we used to glaze the paper. He was cleaning out the operations. Where you worked them was this side, and he used to always go to the other side and finish cleaning them off with a lump of rag, you know, as the rolls were going around. And he was out there cleaning them off, see, and course the roll grabbed his hand, pulled his hand in the rolls. Luckily somebody was on the other side and heard him shouting and went up and reversed the rolls you know, and that pushed him back. He still lost a bit of his hand. 

So did he get taken to a hospital in Totnes

Yes. I don’t know he didn’t have to go Plymouth

[break]

[120.00]
They used to start 6 o’clock up at the mill, as I told you, and they used to live at Ashprington, and in those days, pubs, as soon as the landlord was up, he would open up. He said, “So I come down to the bottom bridge”, he said “just walked up top of the bridge”, he said, “there was a light on in the bar”. So he thought I’ll go in and have one before breakfast, I won’t start before eight. “So I went in there”, he said, “and eight o'clock come”, he said “I thought to myself I’m still along the road”, so he got over the Maltsters, he said, “I’ll go in here and have one”, so he went in the Maltsers, and “I was sat in there”, he said, “sat in there my dear old soul”, he said, “come along the road, with a basket and me dinner”, he said, “to take over the mill”, so her went along, he said. I said “What did you, Sid?” He said, “I let her go” he said, “Her got up Tuckenhay Mill, walked in”, they said “Have you seen Sidder”. Her said, “No, I haven’t seen him all day.”  “See Sidder left home half past five this morning to go to work”. Said “Well we haven’t seen him”. He said “I walked up Ashprington,” he said, “when her come home”, he said, “I was in the kitchen, sat down”. They must have spent a fortune on beer.
How much did beer cost?

Oh very cheap, wasn’t it.
I don’t know. Can you remember what beer cost when you were a child?

No, I couldn’t. But I should imagine ‘twas only pence.

How much was a sheet of paper worth?

Twelve and a half pence, or something like that.

Did you ever use those Arabesque moulds, the moulds you had at Tuckenhay with the fancy Arabesque patterns, it was wove screen with lots of odd shapes all the way across?

No. I made paper for Mr. Harrison, for his father. 

His father was a paper maker, right?

[122.5]
No. He was designing, or packing up, or something that had been in for years, had a special mould made for them, ‘menu’, on this mould was a menu that they was going to print the menus on.

Did the watermark say ‘menu’ on it or something?

Yeah, and I think his watermark was on it or something, and he had the covers made out of imperial, you know.
Really heavy weight paper.

Yeah. And inside was the menu. And he said “Make a good job of this”, he said, “and please father”, he said, “and I shall be happy”. Because if he pleased father, you know, he’d have him round the corner.

Was his father well off?

Yeah. Could never understand Mr. Harrison buying that. (the mill) He's a barrister by trade.

Was his father a paper maker?

No.

We just heard that he was, or involved in the paper trade. Do you know what his father did?

No. May have been in the paper trade. And then he (Harrison) had another fellow, he was in partnership with him, Dr. Grant. 

Was Dr. Grant from around here?

No. He wasn’t a doctor as a doctor. He could analyze stuff, you know.

Was he a partner all the way through to the end?

I don't know if he pulled out part way through or anything like that.

Was he from around here, the doctor?

No. I have no memory, I should say.

He'd be one maybe to talk to.

Yes.

If we could find out who he was.

Yeah, I don't know. Cyril may be able to tell you.

Harrison wouldn't say anything, so.

No. I suppose he, err, he didn’t … you know … he’s asked us the less said about the mill the better he’s pleased with it now.

Yeah, that's how he feels, yeah.

Course, see he paid a hundred thousand for it, I was told. That was coal, stock, houses, … several houses …

Not much compared to the value of land now.

No, some of the houses is going for a hundred thousand pound, they want for it now. And he reckoned he was robbed, see. Wasn’t nothing to do with Millbourn. They must have had two valuers, wouldn’t they? One for Mr. Harrison and one for Millbourn, wouldn’t they? 

Well if he paid for it, he couldn't consider himself robbed.

That's what I mean. So he reckoned Mr. Millbourn robbed him, see? But Millbourn was going to run the mill with him, kicked some money in there, then run it. Run it for him. But he told him, you know, to get out.

So he lost the man who wanted to run the thing.

Yes.

Was Mr. Milbourn a good mill manager? Did you ever work with him?

Well fairly. Alright I suppose.

Did you know him?

Well I only knew him to speak to, you know, you wouldn't see a lot of him.

He owned the mill when you worked there, though?
Yeah.

Did the men respect him more than they respected Harrison?

Oh yes.

Was he a paper maker?

No, he never came down and made paper.

Did he know about it?

No, I don't think so.

He had a foreman that knew?

Yes, yeah, that’s right.

Who was the foreman?

Sammy Aiston. When [after] they brought in Perce Aiston, his father.

Were they from Tuckenhay?

No. From down in Kent I think. But Perce came down, and Sammy was born down there, you know.

Was the manager, was that an important job?

Oh yes. Very important, wasn’t it.

What did they do? Make sure everything worked all right?

[126.50]
Yes. Old Perce Aiston, he said, some rags come one day, and he opened them up, and he said to lorry driver, “No”, he said, “you can take these back now”. Well, something wrong with them, I don't know. So he said, “I want to see the boss”. He said, “I'm the boss.” He said, “No, I want to see Mr. Milbourn.” He said, “Go up and see him, come up with me.” So he took him up, so Perce told him what was wrong with them, “Oh yeah”, he said, “You do what Percy said, that's what I employ him for”.

He was a good manager, huh?

Yeah.

What was “special?”

Oh yeah. We weren’t supposed to use that word. It was wood pulp.

Oh that's why they called it special?

Yeah. It was supposed to be all rags, see? They would re-pulp some of that and put it in. When they sent away their samples, the old papermakers said, it was all rag. Soon as they got the order, they put some special in then.

Oh, that's what makes sense then — Harry Glanville, in this story here, he said, I made a sheet of paper, they sent it out for the order, and then when I went to make the sheets, I couldn't make it the same way the order was made, because it had that special in it. That was wood pulp in there?

Yeah, that’s what ‘twas, wood pulp.

Was it harder to make a sheet with wood pulp in it?

Well yeah, I suppose that was.

Did you notice that yourself?

Well no, not really, but I suppose perhaps it would hold the water a bit more or something.

So if somebody ordered paper, would you make them a sample ream or something?

I suppose they would do, yeah.

Do you remember anything about that?

[128.50]
Yeah, I suppose they would do, they would pick out a ream, or whatever it was, and send it away. I could never get over … when they put the special in … why the firm never tested it every so often to see if it was 100% right.
Was there any way of knowing?

No. 

That was just a way of saving money then, huh?

Oh, for Millbourn, yeah. That was how he made his money wasn’t it. If you could sell something for 100% rag and there is special in there, it’s laughing, didn’t you.
Did Millbourn do that as well as Harrison? 

No, Millbourn.

Did Harrison too, or did he stop the practice?

No, I think he used to do it a bit.
That's interesting. It's not very much they would put in — 5% or 10%

Oh yeah, they'd keep it down. Perhaps that was the idea that, keeping it down to a certain limit.

You say you weren't supposed to use that word. Did they have other words they used?

[130.00]
No, it was ‘special’ they said. I only knew because the papermakers told me, you know. “What’s this?” I said “It’s special. Do you know what that is?” I said "No”, when I was coucher, I said “no, I don't know what it is." He said, "Oh, that’s to, so they aren’t using all rag," he said, “that’s what the products make”
Did you see the stuff sitting around in bales or —?

Oh yeah, they used to keep it in big bales, keep it up the other side of the mill, it was never in the rag house. Keep it right up the old part of the mill. So nobody come in there. So if anyone came into the rag house to look around, by yourself, you wouldn’t see it. 

What’s your paper - all made in sizes is it, with a deckle edge is it?

Yeah. Just cut smaller there.

They used to have a guillotine down there to cut that. Cut the deckle edges with a guillotine.

They cut off the deckle edges with a guillotine? Or put a deckle edge on it?

No, they used to cut it off sometimes.

Oh because people would order it with a cut edge?

Yeah.

Seems like a lot of work to go to make a handmade sheet and then cut off the deckle, doesn't it.
It do doesn’t it.

Who would order sheets with the deckle cut off?

I can't remember. But I remember the finisher doing it. You’d go down there and measure what the guillotine currently handled. You’d set it up … and then …
How much broken did you usually end up with in a day – a lot?

It all depends.

What would it depend on?

Well what sort of coucher, you know, or vat man you had. See it was piece work again. I remember once, just before I went in the army, this was on double cap, so it wasn't very big sheets, and it went nearly all week without making any broken. There wasn’t none. You wanted it to cover your packs up.

Oh you didn't have any?

[132.5]
Yeah, you wanted so many on the top, so many on the bottom, because when you took it up in the press, at the top, we used to have a big stick there. You’d take these packs up, and put in these presses, we had a big long stick, and they pull these presses down and the dryer man would watch them presses, and he’d see the water start running out of them. He’d say “Woah, that’s enough”. Don’t know how he done it. It was by eye, you know, nothing to tell him. You wanted someone to hand over,* you know. But anyhow, we went over a week without making any broken. I was couching, pitching, you know, felts. And the vatman working the vat, an old bloke, had had to pack up couching because he had heart trouble, but he come down on this, obliged come down laying this double cap, and Jimmy, he’d seen Sammy Aiston in the middle of the afternoon, he said “Sammy, can I have a word with you”. He said “Yes”. He said, “Look, I can … you can guarantee this work, there's ain’t no brokens in there”. He said, “You go and see Mr. Millbourn”, he said, “see if he'll pay us six days, up to Friday night”. He said, “We'll do 5-¾”, he said, “you go up and tell him”, he said, “us’ll guarantee the work”. He went up and told him, and came back and said “Yes, that’s alright”
The little old man wasn’t usually not making at the vat?

[134.00]
No, laying. He had heart trouble. He was a good coucher. He had heart trouble and he went up on the low lofts, you know, drying. But he came down to oblige that time. Cos I mean, double share, or single sheet, you know, You could gain a lot of felts. If you gained a lot of felts like that, while he was waiting for them to do those felts, see, he go back here and sit down and have a rest.
What's “gain a lot of felts mean?”

See those felts? (Points to the picture)
(Poinitng) Its that pile there.

Why wouldn't you have a lot of felts?

Well it all depends.

On your “layer”.
Yeah layers, see if you didn’t get *-in as you call it, and gain those felts ...
You didn’t get *-in?

[134.50]
Yeah, then they waited for pulling, you see, pulling a post. But if he could gain the felts, he’d go back in and sit down and have a rest while they made those. 
The layer would have a rest. Because he would be pulling the sheets off the felts that had just come out of the press.
Yes.
Did it take the layer just about as long to pull the sheets off the felts that had come out of the press as it did for the coucher to couch them?
If they had two sheets on a felt he would go 1, 2, see. But if you only had the one felt, you only had one (to pull off and), then you had your felt up.
So it did take the layer about as long to pull the sheets off as it did for the vat man and coucher to make the next post?
Well yeah. It all depends on what sort your making, as I say. If you was on thin papers it was lot harder to press.
Thins were hard for the layer to lay? 

Yeah

Because they sort of float all over the place.

That's it, yeah. And the same with, what can I call it? Rough, what they call rough. That was … they wanted to see the felts. You couldn't straighten the packs up, or nothing like that. (straighten the packs is to fold over a felt edge to keep the post/pack from becoming too curved)

You couldn't straighten the packs up on a rough because …
They wanted to see the felt edge in the sheet. 
Oh, so you didn't do a second pack … a second pressing?

No.
So that was faster because you didn't have to stack them so neatly?

]136.30]
Yeah. You couldn't get no veins in that neither after the ... if it was … the hardest paper, dry, because they wrang the water. Paints wouldn’t take on where you veined it. 
What's a vein?

Well when you went to lay it, if you made a mark up through it, they called that a vein.

Were those made when the felt hit a wet sheet?

No, it was when you lifted it off the felt. 

If it creases when you're lifting off the felt?

Yes, yes.

You call that a vein. That usually doesn't show very much, does it?

Well no, because in ordinary paper you see ‘tis pressed (in the vat room) and then pressed again at the top (in the dry lofts) and it's pressed out. But on this here, what they wanted it …

The rough?

Yeah. I forget what they call it. But they ... wanted the paper … 
The felt texture on there? 
The felt left in them.

So it goes straight to the dryer from the first pressing?

Yes it goes in these here … used to go in these here little presses that they got up there, where they used to pull them around by a stick. And then used to go in another cylinder dryer, then it used to go up in the size house and be sized. And it used to go in the loft and be hung again. And then to be sorted, I think. Then to be glazed, I think.

Lot of steps, wasn’t it?

Oh yeah...how do you make your sizing?

We use a commercial internal sizing. Where you size it in the vat. That’s what we do. Saves us lots of work. But, they say you can’t make a very thin sheet that is strong with out being gelatin sized.

No.
[break]

[138.40]
The layer was a third person in a crew?

Yeah, that's right.

And they'd probably serve their apprenticeship, they were a trained person, but they just didn't take on the vat or the couching?

Well…
 [end of tape side 2]

[138.58]
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